

Fakulteten för landskapsplanering, trädgårds- och jordbruksvetenskap

# Pheromone-based monitoring of *Elater ferrugineus* as an indicator for species-rich hollow oak stands

Klas Andersson



Självständigt arbete vid LTJ-fakulteten, SLU Examensarbete 30hp, Alnarp 2012



#### Pheromone-based monitoring of Elater ferrugineus as an indicator for species-rich hollow oak stands

Klas Andersson

Handledare: Mattias Larsson, SLU, Alnarp, Dept. of Plant Protection Biology

Btr handledare: Per Milberg, Linköping University, IFM Biology, Division of Ecology Karl-Olof Bergman, Linköping University, IFM Biology, Division of Ecology

Examinator: Fredrik Schlyter, SLU, Alnarp, Dept. of Plant Protection Biology

Kurstitel: Examensarbete inom hortonomprogrammet Kurskod: EX0544 Omfattning: 30hp Nivå: E Fördjupning:A2E

Program/utbildning: Examen: Ämne:Biologi

Serienamn: Självständigt arbete vid LTJ-fakulteten, SLU Utgivningsort: Alnarp Utgivningsmånad och -år: February 2012 Elektronisk publicering: <u>http://stud.epsilon.slu.se</u>

**Omslagsbild:** Klas Andersson

Nyckelord: Elater ferrugineus, Osmoderma eremita, saproxylic, indicator, Quercus sp., pheromone, conservation

### Abstract

The rare beetle *Elater ferrugineus* was sampled at 47 sites in the county of Östergötland, Sweden by means of pheromone-baited traps to assess its value as an indicator species for hollow oak stands rich in rare saproxylic beetle species. In addition Osmoderma eremita was sampled with the same method. These data were then compared against species survey data collected in the same sites by pitfall and window-trapping. Weighted odds ratio models revealed that both species co-occur with many red listed saproxylic beetle species, with E. *ferrugineus* being a somewhat better indicator for the rarest beetle species. Regression models showed that the conservation value of a site (measured as red list points or number of red listed species) increased with the number of specimens of E. ferrugineus and O. eremita caught. Accuracy of sampling by means of pheromone trapping turned out to be radically different for the two model species. E. ferrugineus traps put out during July needed to be up for only 6 days in order to gain full accuracy, whereas *O. eremita* traps needed to be out from early July to mid August in order to obtain full accuracy with one trap per site. By using E. ferrugineus or preferably both species as indicator species, effort spent in the field, and thereby the costs for saproxylic biodiversity sampling, could be greatly reduced compared with conventional methods, and the accuracy of classification of valuable habitat significantly improved.

**Keywords:** *Elater ferrugineus, Osmoderma eremita*, saproxylic, indicator, *Quercus* sp., pheromone, conservation

## Contents

Introduction
Material & methods
Background of trapping methodology and datasets used in this study
Pitfall- and window-trapping
Sites for trap placement
Site naming4
Artportalen (Species Gateway) records
Model species
Elater ferrugineus, (Elateridae), Linnaeus 17586
Osmoderma eremita, (Cetoniidae), Scopoli 17636
Pheromone trapping
Trapping periods used in statistical analyses7
Red list points for individual sites7
Odds ratios and statistical analyses7
Generalized linear model analysis (GLZ)
Graphing of accuracy9
Nestedness analysis
Results
Temporal catch pattern
GLZ (Generalized Linear models)
Weighted odds-ratios17
Accuracy19
Nestedness analysis
Discussion
Conclusions
Implications for management26
Acknowledgements
References

#### Introduction

All over the world species are pushed towards and too often beyond the edge of extinction by human destruction and fragmentation of habitats (Pimm & Raven 2000, Chisholm et al. 2011). Many of the species that are driven to extinction are insect species. The hidden number of insect extinctions is probably high due to the fact that many insect species are yet to be described, or their populations cannot be monitored to the extent where we can properly assess their threat status (Myers et al. 2000). Identifying and protecting key areas or habitat types that have a high number of potentially threatened species is therefore essential in conservation biology (Myers et al. 2000). However, complete surveys are expensive, timeconsuming and often prevented by the lack of taxonomic experts. Therefore the use of indicator species instead of complete surveys to locate sites with high species richness is common in conservation biology in order to save money and time (Margules & Usher 1981, Simberloff 1998). Many indicator species used are vertebrates, whereas insects are less frequently used as indicators except in aquatic environments where insects have been used for long time to determine the status of rivers or lakes (Bolger et al. 1991). But the use of invertebrates as terrestrial monitoring species has increased, especially among butterflies (Lepidoptera) (Margules & Usher 1981, Rosenberg et al. 1986, Ehrlich 1992, Oliver & Beattie 1993, Sparrow et al. 1994, Nilsson et al. 1995, Myers et al. 2000). Monitoring for specific insect indicator species is nevertheless often difficult and time consuming, regardless whether performed by means of trapping or active search. There is considerable risk of overlooking individual indicator species at a site, due to low precision of the methods typically used (Jansson 2009). However, pheromone-based trapping systems have been used in pest management for decades for efficient monitoring of a wide range of pest species. These systems are usually highly species specific, which should make them appropriate for conservation purposes in order to make surveys for indicator species more effective, but until recently these systems have been exclusively used in pest management (Bengtsson et al. 2006, Yasuda et al. 2010). The first pheromone identified for monitoring a rare and threatened insect species was the male-produced sex pheromone for Osmoderma eremita (Larsson et al. 2003). Using pheromones that attract indicator species, which in turn indicate sites with high species richness, is a promising way of monitoring sites with high conservation value. O. eremita is a species associated with hollow trees, and in Sweden it is mainly found in hollow oak (Ouercus sp.) stands (Ranius & Nilsson 1997, Ranius et al. 2005). These hollow oak sites generally have high species richness (Nilsson et al. 1995, Økland et al. 1996). But hollow oak areas in Sweden have suffered from severe decline and fragmentation in the last 200 years, mainly due to the change in ownership of the oaks. Ownership of the oaks was transferred from the crown to local land owners in the beginning of 19<sup>th</sup> century, which resulted in many oaks being cut down (Eliasson 1999, Eliasson & Nilsson 2002). The fragmentation of the hollow oak stands in the landscape had implications for the flora and fauna connected to them (Eliasson & Nilsson 2002). Since many of the beetle species associated with hollow trees are assumed to have low dispersal rates, they are dependent on the continuity of hollow trees within a relatively narrow range (~2 km proposed by Nilsson and Baranowski 1994) (Nilsson & Baranowski 1994, Jansson 2006). Their low dispersal rates, in combination with the high

degree of habitat fragmentation, have caused many of the species connected to these habitats to be threatened (Gärdenfors 2010).

In 1994 Nilsson and Baranowski found that many click beetles species exclusively live in sites with long hollow tree continuity. However, they also claimed that these beetles would generally not be practically useful as indicators since they are believed to be under-sampled – meaning that even if they are present at a site, the chance of detecting them is low (Nilsson & Baranowski 1994). Among these beetles is the rare rust red click beetle (*Elater ferrugineus*), which was until 1993 only known from 25 sites in Sweden, and which is frequently associated with *O. eremita* (Nilsson & Baranowski 1994).

In 2002 it was discovered that the females of *E. ferrugineus* were attracted to the pheromone of O. eremita, which made it possible to monitor the presence of this rare species classified as Vulnerable in the Swedish red list of 2010 (Svensson et al. 2004, Gärdenfors 2010, Ljungberg et al. 2010). In 2007 the female sex pheromone of E. ferrugineus was identified, further expanding the possibility to monitor the abundance of this rare species (Tolasch et al. 2007, Svensson et al. 2011b). Holt (1993) stated that habitat interactions at different trophic levels work over different spatial scales, and species higher in a trophic web should be more affected by fragmentation than species lower in the trophic web. Since E. ferrugineus larvae are generalist predators, but nevertheless partly dependent on relatively few large prey species including O. eremita, then it is reasonable that it is more sensitive to habitat fragmentation than O. eremita (Holt et al. 1999, Holt 2002). Recent studies have shown that E. ferrugineus exhibits higher population fluctuations (Larsson & Svensson 2011) and depends on hollow tree resources at larger spatial scales (Ranius et al. 2011) than O. eremita. Therefore, E. ferrugineus could be a very sensitive and cost-effective indicator of the biological effects of landscape fragmentation, given the present potential for monitoring with a highly attractive pheromone.

*O. eremita* is protected by law in many European countries and is classified as Near Threatened according to the red list of 2010 in Sweden (Anonymous 1992, Gärdenfors 2010, Ljungberg et al. 2010), and had been found at approximately 130 sites around Sweden until 2005 (Ranius et. al 2005). It is exclusively dependent on the wood mould in hollow trees (Ranius & Nilsson 1997, Ranius et al. 2005). Several studies have shown that *O. eremita* is a species that indicated hollow oak stands with a high conservation value (Jansson et al. 2009, Ranius 2002). Pheromone-baited traps have been used in the field to estimate population sizes of this rare species; when comparing with previous studies carried out during several years with un-baited pitfall traps in the same region, the results showed that population sizes previously had been underestimated (Larsson & Svensson 2009). The possibility of calculating species abundance at a site with a relatively low work effort strengthens the potential for pheromone based systems as a tool for monitoring species abundance, which is necessary to be able to calculate the extinction risk of a species (Schultz & Hammond 2003, Larsson & Svensson 2011).

The main aim of this project was to evaluate the usefulness of pheromone-trapped *E*. *ferrugineus* as an indicator species for hollow tree stands with a rich saproxylic insect fauna.

This was studied by means of pheromone trapping of *E. ferrugineus* in sites previously surveyed during 1994-2010 by Nicklas Jansson (see e.g. Jansson 2009, Jansson et al 2009). The question addressed in the present study was to determine whether pheromone trap catch of *E. ferrugineus* is a good predictor for the presence of individual rare and threatened species, as well as for sites rich in rare species. Species matching with the red list of 2010 was used to test the hypothesis that *E. ferrugineus* is more abundant at sites with high richness of red listed saproxylic beetle species associated with hollow oak stands. The presence of *E. ferrugineus*, and its indicator potential, was compared with that of *O. eremita*, which has already been shown to have high indicator potential for saproxylic beetles (Ranius 2002, Jansson et al. 2009). Methods used in this project were matched against both the data on *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* sampled by Jansson (2009) and data reported into Artportalen (Species Gateway), which is a site where anyone may report records of any Swedish species. In this way I have both determined the accuracy and usefulness of *E. ferrugineus* as an indicator species for hollow oak stands with very high conservation value, and the efficiency of the two pheromones in detecting the respective species compared to other methods.

#### **Material & methods**

#### Background of trapping methodology and datasets used in this study

#### Pitfall- and window-trapping

Jansson's surveys 1994-2010 were carried out with trapping in individual trees with pitfall traps and window traps (one of each in every individual oak sampled). Data obtained from Jansson (2009 *and pers. comm*) that has been used in the present study was obtained from four oaks per site, which yields approximately 40% of the species according to Jansson (2009) (see Figure 1). Only saproxylic beetle species associated with hollow oaks were used.



**Figure 1.** Rarefaction graph (left) showing the cumulative percentage of beetle species detected as a function of the number of oaks sampled. Right panel shows a hollow tree with a window trap (a) and pitfall trap (b). Figure panels obtained from Jansson 2009 with permission from Niklas Jansson.

#### Sites for trap placement

Data from Jansson's surveys in Östergötland, Sweden 1994-2010 were used to obtain 47 sites for the project. Since the aim of the project was to use the species diversity of whole sites, rather than the diversity of individual trees, some limitations were set to define what constituted a site. Firstly, the extent of individual sites was delineated by the area around the trap when the trees were less than 500 m apart from one tree to another. Secondly, the sites should not be closer than 500 m from each other, in order to avoid conflicts between traps since the sex pheromone of *E. ferrugineus* has been proven to be effective at large distances (Larsson et. al. *unpubl.*). The target position for each trap was the centroid of the four trees sampled per site in the 1994-2010 survey. All traps were mapped into ArcGIS (ESRI ArcMap 9.3.1, Redlands, California, U.S.A.) in order to check for error in placement.

#### **Site naming**

Since some of the sites have been used in earlier studies with different naming, sites with alternative naming in other studies are therefore listed here in order to reduce the name confusion. Names within parenthesis are names previously used for the same site in other studies; Brokind (Skolhagen), Fornhagen (Kalvhagen), Ravnäs (Rafnäs, Ravsnäs), Runstorp (Rundstorp), Skaggebo (Storängen).



**Figure 2.** Top left: marking scheme and marked *O eremita* with individual nr. 52, top right: trap hanging from branch, down left: *E. ferrugineus*, down right: trap with *E. ferrugineus* beetles in a trap at Runstorp, background picture *Succisa pratensis* in front of oak trees (*Quercus robur*) at Norsholm. Photographs: K. Andersson

#### Artportalen (Species Gateway) records

Artportalen is a Swedish site where records of various animals and plants may be reported; in this case the records for *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* have been assessed. Since the aim of using the Artportalen dataset has been to compare the different datasets and the methods used, some of the reports in Artportalen have been excluded. These are either data reported from Jansson's survey (Jansson 2009, Jansson et al 2009) that have been included in the dataset used in the present study, or data obtained by means of pheromone baited traps. Reports included in the present study are not older than 30 years; sites have been obtained with a precision of approximately 1 km radius around the trap position. Complications with using data of this type is that it may be of varying quality since both professional entomologists as well as laypeople may add records to this site, yielding a mix of results from surveys and spontaneous observations with very different methods. As an example of methods included in the Artportalen dataset are findings of frass (*O. eremita*) and pieces of insects such as elytra or pronotums. Another substantial problem is the inherent reporting bias, where absences of individual species at any particular site are seldom reported. Therefore, almost only presence data may be obtained from this site. Artportalen site visited 19/10-2011.



**Figure 3.** Maps of the county of Östergötland, Sweden with the sites sampled marked out. Maps from © Lantmäteriet, I2011/0032.

#### **Model species**

#### Elater ferrugineus, (Elateridae), Linnaeus 1758

The red click beetle *Elater ferrugineus* (synonym: *Ludius ferrugineus*) is Sweden's second largest click beetle (imago size about 17-24 mm, the largest click beetle to be found in hollow trees, see Figure 2) and lives in deciduous hollow trees such as oak (*Quercus* sp.) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) (Palm 1954, 1959, Nilsson & Baranowski 1994). The life cycle of *E. ferrugineus* is between 4-6 years probably depending on the amount of food available (Palm 1954, 1959). Larvae of *E. ferrugineus* are mainly predators and feed on other insect larvae such as larvae of *O. eremita* but given the chance it will also be cannibalistic (Nilsson & Baranowski 1994, Palm 1954, 1959). *E. ferrugineus* was until 1993 only known from 25 sites and is often thought to be an under-sampled species in surveys (Nilsson & Baranowski 1994, Jansson 2009).

#### Osmoderma eremita, (Cetoniidae), Scopoli 1763

The hermit beetle *Osmoderma eremita* (imago size 25-35 mm) is a saproxylic beetle associated with hollow trees (see Figure 2). The most important factor of the tree is the size and direction alignment of the hollow opening and the amount of wood mould inside (Ranius & Nilsson 1997). In Sweden it has only been found in deciduous hollow trees, where the larvae feed on the mycelia and chew the trunk from the inside and thereby enlarging the hollow (Ranius & Nilsson 1997, Ranius 2002, 2005). The normal life cycle of *O. eremita* in Sweden is about 3 years; imagos emerge in late June and the season is usually over before the end of August (Ranius & Nilsson 1997). *O. eremita* is known from 270 sites in Sweden but recorded in only 130 of these after 1990 in spite of extensive surveys. It is therefore highly plausible that the rate of extinction from sites is higher than the rate of colonization (Ranius 2005).

#### **Pheromone trapping**

Pheromone trapping can be a highly species-specific method, depending on the pheromone used and species aimed for. In the present project pheromones for *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* have been used. The female-produced sex pheromone for *E. ferrugineus* attracts only males, but the pheromone for *O. eremita* has been shown to attract mostly females of *O.* 

*eremita* and females of *E. ferrugineus*, but in much lower numbers than the sex pheromone of *E. ferrugineus* (Larsson et al. 2003, Svensson et al. 2004, Svensson et al. 2011a).

All field trapping in the present study was performed with LS cross-vein funnel traps of the type according to Figure 2 and 4, (Svensson & Larsson 2008). Each trap was baited with both the sex pheromone for *E. ferrugineus* (7methyloctyl (Z)-4-decenoate; Tolasch et al. 2007, Svensson et al. 2011b) and *O. eremita* (R)-(+)- $\gamma$ decalactone; Larsson et. al. 2003). The sex pheromone of *E. ferrugineus* (>98% purity) was obtained from Erik



**Figure 4.** Principal scheme of LS cross-vein funnel trap, with measures of the cross-vein.

Hedenström's research group at Mid Sweden University (Svensson et al. 2011b). Baits were

made from 200  $\mu$ L PCR tubes loaded with 2  $\mu$ L aliquots of neat compound, and pierced with an insect pin size 3 just below the lid to release the pheromone (Tolasch et al. 2007). The sex pheromone of *O. eremita* was obtained as a racemic mixture from Sigma-Aldrich, as the racemate can be substituted for the pure (*R*)-enantiomer (Svensson & Larsson 2008). Baits were made from 4 mL glass vials loaded with 600  $\mu$ L of neat pheromone, with a cotton dental roll (Celluron, Paul Hartmann, S.A.,France) inserted as a wick. One trap per site, containing one bait for each of the two model species, was placed at approximately 2.5 m height from the ground on a branch facing north from the stem, in order to avoid sun exposure of the trap.

Traps were emptied every third day during the first three weeks and thereafter the traps that caught beetles were henceforth emptied at this interval ,whereas the traps that did not catch beetles were checked less frequently in order to ease the work load of the fieldworkers. Beetles were marked with a queen bee marking pen (Uni paint marker PX-21, Mitsubishi Pencil co., LTD. ) on the elytra with a unique combination of marks for each individual (see Figure 2 for marking scheme). Caught beetles were released in the field after marking. The release procedure for *E. ferrugineus* was to take the beetles approximately ten meters away from the trap-tree and throw them up into the air, which will force them into flight. Release of *O. eremita* was somewhat different since these beetles are not as prone to fly as *E. ferrugineus. O. eremita* was put on a tree at least 15 m from the trap-tree. In cases where the beetles flew from one trap to another these beetles were recorded as new to the trap where they ended up. Measurements of the movements of beetles between traps were calculated in ArcGIS (ESRI ArcMap 9.3.1, Redlands, California, U.S.A.) as the shortest possible geodesic route for the beetle (as the crow flies).

#### Trapping periods used in statistical analyses

The trapping periods used in statistical analyses (Period A/B) were first chosen as starting point for the traps to see if it would be possible to explain the variance in rare species only by trapping for 6 days in the beginning of July (Period A; 5 July-12 July). Second period (Period B; 23 July-30 July) was in late July in order to see the change between late and early July, respectively. Only new individuals caught within the respective interval were used; recaptures within the same period were not counted. For the statistics on this part, the sample size for Period A and whole season was (n-1) since one site was not activated until mid July (because permission was given late by landowner).

#### **Red list points for individual sites**

Red list score 2010 was calculated according to the CSPI (conservation priority index) (Jansson et. al. 2009). The red list points are calculated as a score for each site, where each species found in the site is given a certain score depending on its threat category (NL – Not Listed: 0p; LC–Least Concern: 0p; NT – Near Threatened: 1p; VU – Vulnerable: 3p; EN – Endangered: 5p) and these scores are summed per site.

#### **Odds ratios and statistical analyses**

Odds ratios are related to the probability of finding species x at a site with species y. If the odds are significant, and the odds <1 it means that species x is less frequent in sites with species y than in sites without species y. If it is =1 it means that the distribution is random,

and if it is >1 it means that species x is more frequent when species y is present. Odds ratios and weighted odds ratios are commonly used in other disciplines such as medicine but are less used in environmental sciences and ecology (Rita & Komonen 2008, Morris & Gardner 1988, Bland & Altman 2000). Odds ratios is a tool to measure the size of the deviation and its direction between proportions; as argued by Rita & Komonen (2008) this way of treating data should have more attention in ecology since it is a statistical sound way of treating proportions.

Odds ratios (OR) may be calculated according to Morris & Gardner (1988).

$$OR = \frac{(\mathbf{A} * \mathbf{B})}{(C * D)}$$

Where: A= no. of sites with both species x (from Jansson data) and *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita* (from the present study results) present
B= no. of sites with neither of the species present
C= no. of sites with *E. ferrugineus / O. eremita* present and species x absent
D= no. of sites with *E. ferrugineus / O. eremita* absent and species x present

An approximation of the confidence interval is then given by (Morris & Gardner 1988, Bland & Altman 2000):

Standard error:  $SE(ln(OR)) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{A} + \frac{1}{B} + \frac{1}{C} + \frac{1}{D}}$ The 95% confidence interval is then given by:  $e^{(ln(OR)\pm N_{(1-\alpha/2)}*SE(ln(OR)))}$ (N<sub>1-\alpha/2</sub>) is 1,96, normal distribution with a two tailed 95% CI.

Odds ratios were calculated in Comprehensive meta-analysis V2 <sup>TM</sup>, Englewood, New Jersey, U.S.A.. This program calculates the exact confidence intervals and was used for all odds related calculations in this thesis. The categories used when species were grouped according to the red list categories in the statistical analysis were; not listed (NL), least concern (LC), near threatened (NT) and Vulnerable and Endangered as one (VU+EN).

#### **Generalized linear model analysis (GLZ)**

Generalized Linear Models (GLZ) have been increasingly used over the past 20 years in biology, e.g. soil science, fishery, marine biology and conservation (Schneider 2009, 1992, Lane 2002, Venables & Dichmont 2004, Hardin & Hilde 2007, Whittingham et al 2006). Many authors emphasize the benefits of using the GLZ instead of general linear models, which may be seen as a special case of GLZ (Schneider 2009, Hardin & Hilde 2007, benefits e.g. Lane 2002, Venables & Dichmont 2004, Whittingham et al 2006). The high flexibility of the GLZ with possibilities to handle data that are not normally distributed was the main reason to why I chose to do a GLZ in the analysis. By using GLZ in all analyses it made all models comparable with each other. The choice of normal distribution and log-link was based upon the goodness of fit from runs with other distributions (e.g. binomial, Poisson). In order to choose the best describing model, the best subset model with the lowest AIC (Akaike Information Criterion) was chosen when modeling. GLZ analysis was performed with normal distribution and log-link (link function for the response variable, -chosen in the analysis program), in order to test the relationships between variables, *E. ferrugineus/O. eremita* catches (over given time period) vs. species richness, number of red listed species, red list point, number of NT species and number of EN/VU species. Catch data (predictor) were log(x+1) transformed in order to lower the variance that affected the residuals. Statistics were carried out in Statistica (StatSoft, Inc. (2011). STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 10. www.statsoft.com), Tulsa, Oklahoma, U.S.A..

#### **Graphing of accuracy**

Accuracy gives a measure on how accurate a method is in detecting a certain species, and is dependent on the correct detections on sites of presence/absence as well as false detection of either presence/absence on each site. In this study I have used accuracy as a means of detecting how quickly a dataset reaches agreement with the whole season dataset; no other data than the pheromone trapping performed in this study have been used.

Accuracy is calculated by:

Accuracy = 
$$\frac{(a) + (b)}{(a+b+c+d)}$$

Where:

a=number of sites correctly detected as sites with species x present
 b=number of sites correctly detected as sites with species x absent
 c= number of sites falsely detected as sites with species x present
 d= number of sites falsely detected as sites with species x absent

Cumulative accuracy-graphs started at different times, gives an estimate for how long time a trap needs to be active in order to get 100 % accuracy at a site. Three-day intervals were used for traps that caught beetles, but at a few occasions the interval was up to five days, in which case trapped beetles (if any) were noted as captured on the last day. For *O. eremita* the principle was the same, except for a few more odd visits due to the low catch frequency at some of the sites presumed to lack *O. eremita*, with the longest being 17 days and ending with a capture.

#### **Nestedness analysis**

In order to show if the saproxylic beetle fauna in old hollow oaks displayed ordered extinction patterns among the surveyed species and sites, a nestedness analysis was performed. Nestedness analyses show whether species in a community of organisms disappear in an ordered way when affected by destruction/ fragmentation of the habitat, with the most sensitive species disappearing first and the most resistant species last (Figure 5). The potential indicator value of individual species is closely related to the overall degree of nestedness among the species assemblages at different sites. In a highly nested system, the presence of a species at a site indicates with high probability the presence of other species less sensitive to extinction. By contrast, if species disappear in a more stochastic fashion, the potential indicator value of a species is lower, as it provides less information about the presence of other species.



Figure 5. Graphical representations of principal nested extinction patterns.

A) At the beginning  $(T_0)$  before habitat fragmentation/ destruction all species 1-50 are able to exist within a single habitat. But as time goes and the habitat gets more and more fragmented and individual patches get smaller, the more species vanish from each patch. A good visualization to think of is found in Atmar & Patterson (1993) where the authors describes it as an island that becomes an archipelago due to raise of the sea level. B) If species differ in their sensitivity to the effects of habitat destruction and fragmentation, they will disappear in a non-random order, with the most sensitive species disappearing first. This will result in a nested pattern of extinctions at different sites, when species are ordered according to an extinction hierarchy. This is illustrated in the figure as a matrix of presence and absence of individual species at different sites. Sites are represented as columns in the matrix, and individual species are represented as rows, with a grey square indicating presence of a species at a site, and a white square indicating an absence. If the process would be entirely deterministic, species would be ordered in a perfectly nested extinction hierarchy, with all presences to the right and above the line and all absences on the other side. In reality, extinctions are often stochastic to some degree, resulting in less than perfect order in the matrix. The degree of nestedness is usually represented as a temperature value representing the degree of entropy or randomness within the system. A temperature of 0 degrees represents a perfectly nested matrix, whereas a temperature of 0 degrees represents a perfectly nested matrix, whereas a temperature of 100 degrees represents a totally random pattern of presence and absence.

The nestedness analysis will give a temperature which indicates if the species occur in a specific pattern in a hierarchical order of disappearance; a temperature of 0 degrees means that the species assemblage is perfectly ordered, whereas a temperature of 100 degrees means that species are totally disordered.

Nestedness temperature was calculated in the Nestedness Calculator by Atmar and Patterson (1993, 1995). Data from Jansson (2009) was used. Only presence/absence per site and species were used. 1000 iterations of randomized matrices with the same fill level as the one created by the dataset were performed in order to obtain the chance of generating a matching matrix by chance.

## Results

In total 985 catches of 693 individuals of *E. ferrugineus* and 99 of 95 individuals for *O. eremita* were recorded during the summer 2011 in the present study. The maximum number of catches for one site (= one trap) was 143 catches of 91 individuals of *E. ferrugineus* at Runstorp (Figure 6). For the different periods the catches for *E. ferrugineus* were in period A: 246 individuals (18/18 active traps catching), period B: 138 individuals (19/19 traps catching). For *O. eremita* catches in each period were: period A: 17 individuals (12/27 traps catching) and for period B: 22 individuals (14/28 traps catching).

Percent re-captures of total catch for *E. ferrugineus* was 29.6 % (ranging between 5.3-50 %) and for *O. eremita* 4.0 % (ranging between 0-50 %) (Figure 6). The probability of re-capturing *E. ferrugineus* was higher than re-capturing *O. eremita*. Since the pheromone for *O. eremita* works as a kairomone and also attracts females of *E. ferrugineus*, beetles caught in traps that were emptied by me were sex determined in order to see the proportion of females in the traps. Seven of the *E. ferrugineus* in these traps were females and the total number of beetles caught in these traps was 182 (i.e. 3.85 % females, none of which were recaptured). Movements between traps differed between the two species with many more and longer movements detected for *E. ferrugineus*. Forty-two *E. ferrugineus* beetles moved between two different traps, ranging in distance from 500 m-9 900 m. One *O. eremita* moved between two different traps in the present study; the distance between these two traps was 500 m.



**Figure 6.** Graphs showing *E. ferrugineus* (upper) and *O. eremita* (lower) catches in pheromone traps. The number of unique individuals and re-captures are indicated with grey and black, respectively. \*trapping at Långvassudde started 13 days after the others.

Comparing the results from Jansson's survey with the present study results revealed that *E. ferrugineus* was found at 19 sites in the present study; the five sites where *E. ferrugineus* was detected in the Jansson (2009) dataset were all included among the sites found in the present study. For *O. eremita* the results were more similar between the two surveys: 31 sites were found in the 1994-2010 surveys and 28 in 2011. The pheromone trapping was unable to detect *O. eremita* on five of its sites in Jansson's material from 1994-2010 surveys, but also detected this species at two sites where it was lacking in the data from 1994-2010 (Table 1 and Figure 7). Overall, the results for *E. ferrugineus* exhibit low convergence between different data sets, and demonstrate the added benefits of the pheromone in detecting its presence. In contrast, the three data sets for *O. eremita* display relatively high convergence, indicating a more balanced contribution from each data set. No entirely novel locality for O. eremita was detected in the present study, suggesting that few occupied sites remain undetected (Figure 7).

	Elater ferrugineus	Osmoderma eremita		Elater ferrugineus	Osmoderma eremita
Adelsnäs	0	Х	Mauritzberg	_	-
Bjärka äng	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	Norrbysjön	-	-
Borensberg	-	-	Norsholm	0	Х
Borg	-	$\otimes$	Orräng	0	Х
Brokind	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	Prästbola	-	-
Bråborg	-	$\otimes$	Ravnäs	-	$\otimes$
Bäck	-	0	Ruda	-	-
Börsjö	-	-	Runstorp	0	$\otimes$
Disevid	-	-	Räckeskog	0	$\otimes$
Djursö	$\otimes$	$\otimes$	Skaggebo	0	0
Ekön	-	$\otimes$	Skärblacka	0	$\otimes$
Engelholm	0	$\otimes$	Solberga	-	$\otimes$
Fornhagen	0	$\otimes$	St.Löpgöl	-	-
Garnison	-	$\otimes$	Stegeborg	$\otimes$	$\otimes$
Gunnarsbo	0	Х	Sund	-	$\otimes$
Hamra	-	$\otimes$	Sundsbro	$\otimes$	$\otimes$
Harsbo	-	$\otimes$	Sundsnäs	-	-
Hjorthänget	0	$\otimes$	Svaltorp	-	-
Hägerstad	-	$\otimes$	Sätra-Humpen	0	Х
Händelö	-	$\otimes$	Tisenhult	-	-
Labbenäs	0	$\otimes$	Tolefors	-	-
Lagnebrunna	-	-	V Eneby	-	$\otimes$
Långvassudde	0	$\otimes$	Östantor	-	-
Malmölan	-	$\otimes$			

**Table 1.** The table shows presence/ absence of *Elater ferrugineus* and *Osmoderma eremita* on each site. x means that the species was only found in Janssons (2009) surveys, O means that it was only found during the 2011 survey, and  $\otimes$  denotes that it was found in both surveys.



**Figure 7.** Venn diagrams comparing three different data sets containing occupied sites for the two model species *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita*. The two surveys used in this project (pheromone trapping in July-August 2011 and Janssons pitfall/window trapping surveys 1994-2010), and the records from Artportalen (adjusted so that records included in Jansson (2009) are removed). Each circle represents a specific data set. When circles overlap it shows that these surveys all detected the presence of the species on the same site and vice versa. The upper left fields in the two diagrams show that the pheromone trapping in 2011 detected 7 previously unrecorded localities for *E. ferrugineus*, whereas no novel localities were detected for *O. eremita*. Data for Artportalen obtained 19/10-2011 from www.artportalen.se

#### **Temporal catch pattern**

Catches of *E. ferrugineus* were skewed towards the early part of the field season, with the highest number of new individuals being captured during the first week. A few monitoring traps placed at known localities with high density of *E. ferrugineus* prior to the field season ensured that the true beginning of the flight season was not missed, however. Catches remained relatively high during most of the field season, with most traps catching new individuals until the first week of August, after which only a few stray individuals appeared (Figure 8). In contrast, *O. eremita* catches exhibited no distinct peaks over the season, other than perhaps a brief initial series of captures and a subsequent skew in the catch towards the latter half of the season. The catch pattern of *O. eremita* suggested that the field season of this species after the first 10 days coincided with a brief spell of unusually cold, rainy weather (Anonymous 2011).



**Figure 8.** The temporal pattern of catches of new individuals per trap (dots, right y-axis) of (A) *E. ferrugineus* and (B) *O. eremita*. <u>Solid lines</u> denote average catches per day (left y-axis), <u>dashed line</u> is the mean day temperature at Malmslätt meteorological station (obtained from SMHI.se) (right y-axis, in the lower graph (B) the temperature is divided by 10). Note the differences in catch number and lack of distinct peaks for *O. eremita*. Note also that the individual points showing the highest catches in the two species all come from different sites in each species, suggesting that individual sites may exhibit peak densities at somewhat different times of the field season.



**Figure 9.** Correlation plots of *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* individuals caught in each period and over the whole season. The negative slope of the correlation in Period A is likely explained by a temporal shift in peak flight activity of the two species, resulting in very low numbers of *O. eremita* caught in combination with high catches of *E. ferrugineus*. This pattern is less pronounced in Period B where the *E. ferrugineus* is declining in catches, and for the whole season.



#### **GLZ (Generalized Linear models)**

Correlation tests were carried out for variables used as predictors in the GLZ (period A & B and whole season). Comparisons between the *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* abundance as measured by trap catch showed no strong correlations (*r*-values; period A: -0.43 (n=23), period B: -0.11 (n=27) and whole season: -0.095(n=33) (see also Figure 9). The trend towards negative correlations, although not significant, is likely explained by the differences in peak flight activities by the two species, which resulted in high catches of *E. ferrugineus* in combination with low catches of *O. eremita*. Since the pattern is strongest in the sub-period A it may be explained by the differences in initial peak patterns of the two species with *E. ferrugineus* displaying a distinct peak at the beginning of the season where *O. eremita* lacks a peak (see Figure 8).

Abundance of *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* were strong predictors for several variables that were used as indicators for the conservation value of a site. Figure 10 shows some examples of these relations, with *E. ferrugineus* and *O.eremita* individuals captured over the whole season plotted against four different indicators of conservation value (No. of species, No. of Red listed species, Red list points, and No. of Near Threatened species).



**Figure 10**. Scatterplots of the number of individuals caught over the whole season for both *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* against several parameters used to indicate conservation values for individual sites; note that the catches of *E. ferrugineus* are divided by 10 in order to fit in the same plot as *O. eremita*. The graphs show the catch of *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* plotted against (A) Total No. of species; (B) No. of Red listed species; (C) Red list points; (D) No. of Near Threatened species.

In each case, there was a rather abrupt threshold for the presence of *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita* at different sites. No individuals of either species were trapped at the sites displaying the lowest values for different conservation indicator variables.

In the GLZ analysis, *E. ferrugineus* abundance was the best predictor in four of the pairs of response and predictor variables: Red list point, VU+EN, and total species number vs. Period B, and VU+EN vs. Period A. In all other pairs the best describing model was a combination of the abundances of *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita*. When the catches over the whole season were used as predictors, the model always included the abundances of both *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita*. See Table 2 for details.

Response	Predictor	Mo	AIC	p-value	Intercept	Elater	Osmoderma
response	110010101	del		P and	(CI)	(CI)	(CI)
Tot. sp.	Period A	3	340.7	0.047	3.69	0.095	0.28
	I CHOU A	5	540.7		(3.61-3.78)	((0013)-0.20)	(-0.06)-0.62)
Tot en	Period B	1	345.5	0.017	3.69	0.15	
10t. sp.		1			(3.61-3.78)	(0.018-0.29)	
Tot an	Whole se.	3	334.4	0.002	3.64	0.069	0.22
10t. sp.					(3.55-3.73)	((-0.0072)-0.15)	(0.051-0.39)
R.l. sp.	Period A	3	237.5	0.00040	1.81	0.27	0.83
					(1.63-1.98)	(0.089-0.46)	(0.27 - 1.39)
R.1. sp.	Dariad P	2	242.3	0.00048	1.82	0.39	0.42
	Period B	3			(1.65-1.99)	(0.16-0.63)	((-0.099)-0.94)
R.l. sp.	Whole co	2	222.8	< 0.0001	1.67	0.20	0.57
	whole se.	3			(1.50-1.85)	(0.08-0.33)	(0.31-0.84)
NT cat.	Period A	3	222.8	0.0015	1.74	0.21	0.80
					(1.57-1.90)	(0.033-0.39	(0.26-1.33)
NT cat.	Period B	3	228.3	0.0027	1.74	0.29	0.48
					(1.58 - 1.90)	(0.062 - 0.52)	((-0.028)98)
NT ant	Whaless	2	211.2	-0.0001	1.62	0.14	0.57
NT cat.	whole se.	3	211.2	<0.0001	(1.45-1.79)	(0.014-0.26)	(0.30 - 0.83)
VU/EN	Derivit	1	126.4	0.0028	069	0.65	
cat. Period A		1	126.4	0.0028	(-1.28-(-0.11))	(0.14-1.16)	
VU/EN Deriod D		JD 1	126.2	0.00020	-0.71	1.03	
cat.	Period B	1	126.2	0.00039	(-1.33-(-0.1))	(0.38 - 1.68)	
VU/EN	Whole se.	3	116.8	< 0.0001	-0.99	0.64	0.080
cat.					((-1.65)-(-0.32))	(0.24 - 1.05)	((-1.16)-1.32)
Dlasia	Period A	2	276 4	0.00064	1.96	0.34	0.91
K.I.point		3	276.4		(1.73-2.19)	(0.11-0.57)	(0.22 - 1.6)
DI	Period B	1	280.4	0.00018	1.98	0.51	
к.i.point		1			(1.76-2.19)	(0.22 - 0.80)	
<b>D</b> 1	XX 71 1	2	0.61.0	0.0001	1.80	0.28	0.61
K.I.point	whole se.	3	261.3	<0.0001	(1.57 - 2.03)	(0.12 - 0.43)	(0.29 - 0.93)

**Table 2.** GLZ (normal distribution log-link) results, continuous predictors in columns. Model 1: *E. ferrugineus* abundance (period x); model 2: *O. eremita* abundance (period x), (model 2 was tested but excluded since it was not the best explaining model in any case); model 3: Interactions of *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* with intercept included in model.

Abbreviations used: tot. sp. = total number of species at a site; R.l. sp.: Red listed species found at a site; NT cat.: number of species categorized as Near Threatened at a site; VU/EN cat.: number of Vulnerable/Endangered species found at a site; R.l. point: Red list point

#### Weighted odds-ratios

Odds of finding any random species at a site with either *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita* compared to a site without either of these species were significantly higher ( $OR_{E. ferrugineus}$ : 1.53; p <0.0001 and  $OR_{O. eremita}$ : 1.74; p <0.0001). This indicates that sites with either *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita* are more species-rich since the chance of finding any random species included in this project was higher at sites with *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita*. Data for individual species are presented in Figure 11.

When categorizing individual species according to the red list of 2010 (see method part for categories), *E. ferrugineus* had a stronger connection to the most rare species (VU/EN) in this study (odds of finding a VU/EN species at a site with *E. ferrugineus* compared to a site without *E. ferrugineus*: 5.48; p<0.0001). The corresponding odds ratio for *O. eremita* was not significant. Odds of finding species that are listed as NT in the red list of 2010 were greater for both *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* (OR<sub>*E. fer.*</sub>: 2.16; OR<sub>*O. ere.*</sub>: 2.68; p-val.both <0.0001). Beetles from the LC category were also significantly more frequently appearing when *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita* were present (OR<sub>*E. fer.*</sub>: 1.53, p:0.047 and OR<sub>*O. ere.*</sub>: 1.92, p:<0.0001).



**Figure 11.** Graphs of logarithms of weighted odds ratio on presence/absence data on *E. ferrugineus* (left) and *O. eremita* (right) from 2011 vs. species presence/absence data from Jansson's (2009) surveys. Circles denote the odds ratio; filled circles indicate that the odds ratio is significant. 13 species occurred significantly (95% CI) more often when *E. ferrugineus* was present and one significantly more often when *E. ferrugineus* was absent. Two of the species that occurred more often were classified as VU and two as NT according to the Red list of 2010 (*E. ferrugineus* (VU) not included). Eight species occurred more often when *O. eremita* was present. Three of these were classified as NT according to the Red list 2010 (*O. eremita* (NT) not included). Only 47 traps were used in the present study, and many species were found at only few sites, resulting in rather large confidence intervals; nevertheless several significant co-occurrence patterns emerged.

**Table 3.** Weighted odds ratio for species that have a significantly higher probability of being found at a site with *E. ferrugineus* present (see fig. 11).

Species	OR	CI	Z-value	p-value	Red list category
Conopalpus testaceus	4.36	1.08-17.63	2.07	0.039	LC
Corticeus fasciatus	21.62	1.12-418.6	2.03	0.042	VU
Cryptophagus micaceus	39.00	2.15-708.8	2.48	0.0013	LC
Elater ferrugineus*	21.62	1.12-418.6	2.03	0.042	VU
Gastrallus immarginatus	13.33	3.03-58.62	3.43	0.00061	LC
Globicornis rufitarsis	19.56	4.24-90.15	3.81	0.00014	NT
Hapalaraea pymaea	27.44	1.44-523.5	2.2	0.028	LC
Hedobia imperialis	4.14	1.1-15.52	2.11	0.035	-
Mycetochara linearis	4.33	1.21-15.44	2.26	0.024	-
Orchesia micans	7.58	1.37-42.09	2.32	0.021	-
Osmoderma eremita	20.77	2.43-177.6	2.77	0.0056	NT
Tenebrio opacus	24.3	2.72-217.1	2.86	0.0043	VU
Trox scaber	7.37	1.43-38.08	2.38	0.017	-

\*note that this is the species used as predictor in this case, but here the species is included based only on data from Jansson (2009).

**Table 4.** Weighted odds ratio for species that have a significantly higher probability of being found at a site with *O. eremita* present (see fig. 11).

Species	OR	CI	Z-value	p-value	Red list category
Osmoderma eremita*	36.40	6.24-212.4	3.99	< 0.0001	NT
Scraptia fuscula	63.00	3.36-1180	2.77	0.0056	LC
Procraerus tibialis	6.33	1.68-23.88	2.72	0.0065	NT
Cryptophagus micaceus	6.67	1.66-26.76	2.68	0.0075	LC
Mycetophagus piceus	7.58	1.37-42.09	2.32	0.021	LC
Globicornis rufitarsis	4.33	1.21-15.44	2.26	0.024	NT
Protaetia marmorata	4.33	1.21-15.44	2.26	0.024	LC
Gastrallus immarginatus	3.90	1.13-13.45	2.15	0.031	LC
Calambus bipustulatus	4.62	1.10-19.50	2.08	0.037	NT

\*note that this is the species used as predictor in this case, but here the species is included based only on data from Jansson (2009).

Thirteen species occurred significantly more often on sites with *E. ferrugineus* than without (Table 3), and one: *Anthrenus scrophulariae* (Dermestidae) occurred less frequently when *E. ferrugineus* was present (p-value: 0.022; z-value: -2.30; CI: 0.067-0.81). Four of the species that occurred more often with *E. ferrugineus*, excluding itself, are listed as least concern (LC), two as near threatened (NT) and two as vulnerable (VU) according to the Red list of 2010. Among the species that more often occurred at sites with *O. eremita*, excluding itself (Table 4), five are listed as least concern (LC) and three are listed as near threatened (NT) according to the Red list of 2010.

#### Accuracy

The accuracy for catching *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* varied over the season 2011 (Figure 12). Traps that were set out from the beginning of July until late July reached 100 % accuracy within 6-9 days for *E. ferrugineus*. In contrast, traps for detection of *O. eremita* needed to be out from the beginning of July until early August in order to reach 100 %, whereas traps that were set out after 14th of July never obtained 100 % accuracy for *O. eremita*. For *O. eremita* the full accuracy with regards to all known sites would never be reached, since at five sites that were found 1994-2010 and another three from the Artportalen the pheromone traps failed to detect specimens. The true accuracy achieved for *O. eremita* compared to all known sites in this investigation therefore only corresponds to 78 %. Accuracy for *E. ferrugineus* was not affected by adding data from the surveys 1994-2010, as the latter included no additional sites.



**Figure 12.** Accuracy graphs showing the overall agreement with the complete dataset of 2011: total number of sites with presence of *E. ferrugineus* (A) and *O. eremita* (B), based on pheromone trapping at different times during the field season.—Bold line denotes how the accuracy at each single visit (corresponding to three days of trapping) changes over the field season. The dotted lines around the bold line denote 95% CI. Thinner lines emerging from the bold line show the cumulative change in accuracy over time if trapping would have been started at that date and continued until end of the season. For example: if the trap is up on the 26<sup>th</sup> of July it will take only two visits before *E. ferrugineus* has reached an accuracy of 100%, whereas the accuracy for *O. eremita* will increase from 55% to about 80% accuracy over the next five visits and thereafter level out, as no catches were noted at new sites.

#### **Nestedness analysis**

The nestedness analysis showed that the saproxylic beetles had a nested pattern of occurrence among the sites that were used in this study, based on Jansson (2009). In the nestedness analysis I also included additional presence/absence data for *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita* from the present study as separate entries in the nestedness matrix, in order to determine the impact of detection method on the position of these two species in the nestedness hierarchy. The observed matrix (Figure 13) was filled to 34.5 % and had a temperature of 29.83 °, compared to the random matrices that had an average temperature of 77.98 ° (st. dev:1.7 °), which was significantly higher than the observed matrix (p<0.001). Adding data from 2011 greatly affected the position of *E. ferrugineus* in the overall hierarchy, whereas that of *O. eremita* remained relatively unchanged. It is worth noting that *E. ferrugineus* appears to be perfectly nested within *O. eremita*, i.e. was found only at sites where *O. eremita* was present.

#### Discussion

This study showed that both model species were good indicators of the conservation value of individual localities. *O. eremita* has previously been shown to be a significant indicator for species richness of saproxylic beetles (Ranius 2002, Jansson et al. 2009). This study is the first to include both species, showing that *Elater ferrugineus* was a somewhat better indicator species for sites with very high conservation value. *E. ferrugineus* was shown to be more abundant in sites where many other rare saproxylic beetle species were found, and statistical models showed that the rarest saproxylic beetle species (EN/VU) were more frequently observed at sites occupied by *E. ferrugineus*. When looking at the co-occurrences of the two beetle species it is seen that *E. ferrugineus* is in no place present where *O. eremita* is absent (when adding the observations from Jansson, 2009). This is also apparent in the odds ratio diagrams, where *O. eremita* is significantly more often present on sites with *E. ferrugineus* 

**Figure 13.** The presence of saproxylic beetles among sites found in the study of Jansson (2009), represented as a nestedness matrix calculated by a nestedness calculator (Atmar and Patterson 1993, 1995). Each row in the matrix represents one species and each column represents one site. A grey box means that the species is present on that site, and a white box means that the species is absent. Data from pheromone trapping have been added in order to give an illustration on their relationships with each other. A: *O. eremita*, Jansson (2009); B: *O. eremita*, present study; C: *E. ferrugineus*, present study; D: *E. ferrugineus*, Jansson 2009. In a perfectly nested community all filled boxes would be on the right side of the line. As the matrix is filled to less than 50%, the line has a concave appearance corresponding to the proportion of all squares that could potentially be filled. See also Figure 5.

but not the other way around (see Figure 11). This could indicate that *E. ferrugineus* is a beetle species with higher demands on the site than *O. eremita*, which in turn is believed to have relatively high site preferences (Ranius et al. 2005). Both the OR and GLZ models indicate that more of the rarest categories of beetle species appear more frequently where *E. ferrugineus* is present, but they are not significantly more common where *O. eremita* is present. Two species that are listed as VU and two NT occur significantly more often at sites where *E. ferrugineus* is found than sites without; for *O. eremita* four NT species were more frequently occurring in sites with *O. eremita*. This implies that sites where *E. ferrugineus* is found contain more



rare species than those with *O. eremita*. However, it is important to note that a high number of species occur more often (but not significantly) with both *E. ferrugineus* and *O. eremita*, most easily seen in the odds ratios (Figure 11).

In the retrospective analysis of the different methods used in the present study, it is apparent that both the GLZ and OR analyses reveal the same pattern with *E. ferrugineus* being a somewhat better indicator for the most threatened saproxylic species. However, the necessary trapping effort was quite different between the two species; when using presence of *E. ferrugineus* much fewer trapping days were needed than for *O. eremita* in order to obtain a sufficient result. But it is also important to have in mind that the effort of using either of these, or preferably both is much lower than using more traditional methods such as pitfall and window-traps when performing surveys. The accuracy of *O. eremita* could presumably be increased by using more traps in the field in order to cover a larger area, since the added effort of emptying more pheromone-baited traps at a site is negligible.

The pattern with the more rare species co-occurring to a higher extent with *E. ferrugineus* indicates a nestedness pattern where *E. ferrugineus*, together with an array of other species, disappears earlier than *O. eremita* when moving toward less favorable conditions. It has been shown that *O. eremita* is dependent on the number of hollow oaks at a local scale, and that

comparatively few trees may sustain a local population of O. eremita (Ranius 2000). Since the two beetle species studied in the present investigation are believed to belong to different trophic levels, their sensitivity to fragmentation may be different (Holt 1993, 2002, Holt et al. 1999). In other studies where insects from different trophic levels have been studied in connection with the level of fragmentation (e.g. Davies et al. 2000) it has been shown that predatory species that decline have a higher risk of going extinct than species from lower trophic levels. The connection between spatial scale and trophic level is discussed by Holt (1993, 2002) where the author states that species higher in a food web have higher spatial demands in order to be able to persist in a fragmented landscape. Holt (1993) argues that if the area of the habitat is small and patchy the extinction risk of the predator is higher than for the prey. Species at higher trophic levels generally have smaller population sizes, making them more sensitive to stochastic fluctuations (see also Larsson and Svensson 2011). Patchier habitat distributions in the landscape could also make it difficult for the predator to track the prey, even if the amount of habitat would be enough to sustain a predator population (Holt 1993, Ranius 2000, Begon et al. 2006). The difficulties for the predator to track the prey may be further increased if the prey population decreases to a very low abundance (Begon et al. 2006). The area of suitable habitat at a larger spatial scale may therefore be more important for *E. ferrugineus* than for *O. eremita*. Bergman et al. (2012) showed that *O. eremita* is dependent on the oak density on a local scale (105 m). Ranius and colleagues (2011) predicted that E. ferrugineus is dependent on suitable trees on a much larger spatial scale than what has been reported for O. eremita.

For the concept of indicator species to be valid, species must not go extinct from individual sites in an entirely stochastic manner, which would make the presence or absence of individual species independent of each other. Ideally, species connected to a specific habitat should respond with different sensitivity to the same underlying factors leading to extinctions, causing a predictable hierarchy of presence and absence (See Figure 5 for a schematic representation of the concept). The nestedness analysis based on Jansson's (2009) data demonstrated that the saproxylic beetle species did indeed show a nested pattern of presence and absence, indicating a basically sound rationale for employing indicator species for conservation purposes among this guild of insects. The temperature of the nestedness matrix was 29.83°, however, which could be seen as quite high for sites with many species tightly connected to the habitat, and therefore subject to quite uniform challenges to their persistence (Atmar & Patterson 1993, Eliasson 1999, Eliasson & Nilsson 2002). However, the relatively high temperature of the observed matrix is most likely heavily affected by the sampling method, by which approximately 60 % of the species remain undetected at each site (Jansson 2009). This underlying stochasticity is bound to raise the estimated temperature of the matrix, and a higher precision in the sampling of the species at each site would thus be needed for a relevant estimate of the true nestedness temperature. The nestedness pattern of saproxylic beetles shown here is otherwise consistent with the nestedness patterns demonstrated for butterflies in the Bornean rainforest after forest fragmentation in order to make room for oilpalm plantations, where some species seemed to disappear at certain levels of forest fragmentation in all fragments while others seemed to be more resistant (Benedick et al 2006). This pattern may resemble the fragmentation of broad leaf deciduous forests with hollow trees in Sweden, characterized by gradual fragmentation of a previously widespread habitat with long continuity.

The saproxylic survey data set from Jansson (2009) represents a massive effort, and is very unusual in its scope and depth, combined with its stringent methodology. Nevertheless, it does not by itself suffice to determine relative extinction hierarchies and indicator status of saproxylic species. Because of the overall degree of uncertainty associated with the presence of individual species, the relative position of any species in the hierarchy could depend more on its probability of detection than its underlying dynamics of extinction and colonization. This is exemplified quite well by *E. ferrugineus* itself, which constituted a grossly undersampled species with only 26 % detection of its present number of localities. For any array of saproxylic species that can be sampled with high accuracy, however, the Jansson (2009) data set constitutes an excellent framework for statistical evaluation of their utility as indicators. When including data from the present study, the presence of both O. eremita and E. *ferrugineus* among the investigated sites probably is quite near their true pattern of occupancy. For O. eremita, three more or less independent data sets display high convergence with regards to the identity of occupied sites, suggesting that few sites remain to be found. For E. ferrugineus, the documented capture probability of the sex pheromone for monitoring virtually guarantees detection of a resident population. The pattern of rarer species correlating with E. ferrugineus more often than O. eremita strongly suggests that E. ferrugineus is an indicator for sites that either are less fragmented or are less affected by extinction debts and should therefore have special attention (Benedick et al. 2006, extinction debt reviewed by Kuussaari et al. 2009). E. ferrugineus is also perfectly nested within O. eremita among the surveyed sites, since none of the sites that showed presence of E. ferrugineus lacked O. eremita (when data from Jansson (2009) was included), but 14 sites with O. eremita lacked E. ferrugineus. This pattern, and the considerable distance remaining between the two species in the overall nestedness hierarchy, further strengthens a nested community structure in the saproxylic beetle fauna in hollow oak areas. It provides further evidence that *E. ferrugineus* is dependent on the density of oaks on a larger spatial scale and thus disappears earlier in a fragmented landscape than O. eremita (see Figures 5, 11, 13). This could partly reflect that E. ferrugineus is directly affected by the number of trees with O. eremita – which is probably one of its most important prey species – but also that the former species is more sensitive to general processes of habitat dynamics affecting all species associated with hollow trees.

Further studies in order to estimate the dispersal capacity of *E. ferrugineus* males and females could shed light on whether *E. ferrugineus* is a species that has sex-linked differences in the ability of dispersal; something that was proposed for *O. eremita* by Dubois et al (2010). They showed under laboratory conditions that *O. eremita* are capable of flying up to 2 361 m (Dubois et. al 2010), which is much longer than most of the distances reported from field conditions; 180 m recorded by Ranius & Hedin (2001); 700 m recorded by Dubois & Vignon (2008); 500 m recorded by Svensson et al. (2011a); longest recorded flight in the present study for *O. eremita* was also 500 m. However, 1500 m was reported from Italy by Chiari (2011) which indicate that *O. eremita* has the potential to make longer dispersals, even though dispersals over 500 m are seldom reported. Larsson & Svensson (2011) reported strong

effects of temperature on dispersal propensity, which may explain the longer flights noted from Italian populations. Assessing the dispersal ability of these beetles is necessary in order to evaluate and make predictions for dispersal success into restored hollow oak areas. Pheromone-based systems would constitute a unique way of studying dispersal of beetles over a large spatial scale with mark-recapture procedures. Knowledge of the species dispersal capacities is essential for calculating the connectivity which is necessary for estimating metapopulation persistence over time (reviewed in Hanski 1998, Hanski et. al 1996).

Surveys by means of pheromone-baited funnel traps proved to be an accurate method for detection of both *E. ferrugineus* and *Osmoderma eremita*. When comparing *E. ferrugineus* data collected this year with the data collected by Jansson (2009) it could be seen that *E. ferrugineus* distribution in the county of Östergötland, Sweden had been underestimated. When comparing data from the present study with what was reported into the Species Gateway it was seen that these data collected during the summer 2011 increased the known sites with *E. ferrugineus* in the county of Östergötland with seven new sites (see Figure 7). The increase in the number of known sites for *E. ferrugineus* confirms that this species has been under-sampled in earlier surveys with other methods, which was proposed by Jansson (2009) and Nilsson and Baranowski (1994). Adding the present study's data to the nestedness graph it can be seen that *E. ferrugineus* changes position quite substantially where *O. eremita* remains almost at the same position, which further illustrates that *E. ferrugineus* is a species sensitive to sample method relative to *O. eremita*.

In terms of pheromone based monitoring, O. eremita was less abundant in the traps than E. *ferrugineus* – this is something that has been repeatedly shown in sampling from previous years (Larsson & Svensson 2009, 2011, Svensson et al. 2011a, Larsson et al unpubl.). The recapture rates and recapture distances, which were considerably higher for *E. ferrugineus* than O. eremita, indicate that differences in trap catch reflect fundamental differences in sampling range between the O. eremita pheromone trapping system and that of E. ferrugineus (Schlyter 1992, Östrand & Anderbrant 2003). This could be due to several different factors, including differences in attraction radius of the pheromone traps, and that O. eremita appears to be more sedentary than E. ferrugineus (Ranius & Hedin 2001, Larsson & Svensson 2009, 2011). In order to be able to split these concepts apart more studies are needed; it is difficult to disentangle these terms from studies conducted without proper control traps and direct behavioural observations (Schlyter 1992, Östrand et al. 2000, Byers 2009). Release-recapture experiments with pine sawflies *Neodiprion sertifer* have shown that the sampling range (= the greatest potential distances between release points and capture points) can be considerable greater than the active range of the traps (= the distances at which insects are able to perceive the pheromone and perform directed flights towards the traps) (Östrand et al. 2000, 2001, Östrand & Anderbrant 2003). Movements of the beetles are an indication of the more active flight habits of *E. ferrugineus* males (the longest movements of *E. ferrugineus* in the present study was 9 900 m where the longest movement for O. eremita was about 500 m). O. eremita has been shown to be highly sedentary with only 15 % of the adults dispersing from its natal tree. Swedish O. eremita spend most of their adult lives inside tree hollows, inaccessible to pheromone traps, and the longest recorded movements are approximately 500 m, consistent

with results from the present study (Ranius & Hedin 2001, Larsson & Svensson 2009, 2011, Svensson et al. 2011a). Dispersal flights for *E. ferrugineus* males in the present study are consistent with studies from previous years, where male individuals made movements over 10 000 m, (Larsson et al *unpubl.*).

Since the *E. ferrugineus* males are capable of moving great distances, there is a risk that a site may catch a beetle that is not from a local population, which may lead to misinterpretation of catches. The beetle may have flown in from an adjacent site where there is a resident population of *E. ferrugineus*. In the present study a number of beetles did fly in from adjacent populations (as shown by mark-recapture), but the total catch in every individual trap in the present study is likely too high to consist of only migrants that have flown in from adjacent areas. Only two traps caught less than 10 individuals of *E. ferrugineus* over the whole season. One of these sites (Långvassudde, five individuals) was up later than the others and thereby missed the peak of beetles due to lack of clearance to the land from the land owner (see Figures 6, 8). The other trap (Djursö, eight individuals) was placed very close to the water margin (Baltic Sea), where prevailing winds may have negatively affected the catch.

It could be important that each site where catches are recorded is evaluated so that no site is recorded as having a resident population of *E. ferrugineus* when it is a "tourist" (long flyer) that has been caught. To avoid misinterpretation, sites where the total catch is ambiguous could be subjected to extended trap effort. For *O. eremita* the risk of catching long-distance dispersers is negligible, as these beetles move very short distances (Svensson et al. 2011a).

The use of only one baited trap per site during a whole season proved to be sufficient to indicate presence of *O. eremita* in most cases. When evaluating the results from previous studies, *O. eremita* had been found at 31 sites compared with the 28 sites found with the present pheromone traps; five previous sites were not found 2011, however two new sites of *O. eremita* were detected in this study when compared to the data collected by Jansson (2009). This implies that *O. eremita* probably is generally over-sampled relative to other species when using pitfall and window traps, where the pitfall traps placed inside the hollow trees usually have a high probability of catching *O. eremita*, probably due to its sedentary ecology (Ranius 2001, Ranius & Nilsson 1997). Traps were placed according to a fixed centroid position 2011, rather than based on field cues such as large hollow trees, which would probably be applied if it were to be used as a method to survey sites with high conservation value.

When using trapping methods more adapted to field surveys (shorter periods than whole season), full accuracy was reached for *E. ferrugineus* within 6-9 days after activation as long as the traps were set out in July. For *O. eremita* the accuracy drastically decreased and could only reach 100 %, relative to the maximum number of detected sites in this study, if the traps were placed early in July and left out until mid August. This probably has much to do with the way that the traps were placed in field and that every site only had one trap. When using this method in the field my suggestion is to space out 3-5 traps and set one trap in the center of the area and the others more strategically chosen.

In order to be able to rank individual sites based upon the results from pheromone trapping more indicator species would be desirable. One suggestion could be the clearwing Synanthedon vespiformis, for which the pheromone is already determined. This species is considered as a pest species in most of Europe, this because it bores into the wood of stone fruit trees and other deciduous trees. The pheromone for this species has been identified in order to control this pest species in fruit orchards (Levi-Zada et al. 2011). But in Sweden Synanthedon vespiformis is believed to have a narrower host range with oak (Quercus robur) as its primary host tree and it is considered as vulnerable (VU) in the red list of 2010 (Gärdenfors 2010), which could make this pheromone applicable for conservation purposes in Sweden. Pheromones for further potential indicator species are lacking, but many of these species likely use sex or aggregation pheromones; the list could therefore be extended further. By using multiple traps baited with different pheromones, it would be possible to provide more fine-grained ranking of the sites according to the presence of more species besides E. ferrugineus and O. eremita, which are associated with the most valuable sites. The use of pheromone-baited traps in conservation would considerably increase accuracy while simultaneously reducing the costs of surveying large areas in order to find sites of interest for conservation methods. If the time assigned to field work is limited, this method would constitute a very good tool for decision makers. Especially since only one trap per site in one week is enough to obtain satisfying results.

#### Conclusions

The present study was carried out in some of the finest hollow oak areas to be found in Sweden, and the results from this study needs to be interpreted with that in mind. This study shows that both *Elater ferrugineus* and *Osmoderma eremita*, when using pheromone baited trapping, are highly useful as indicator species for rare species associated with deciduous hollow tree areas in Sweden. Many of the rarest species associated with hollow oak stands were present more often when either *E. ferrugineus* or *O. eremita* was present, with the former having a more tight connection with the most vulnerable species according to the red list of 2010 (Gärdenfors 2010). When evaluating the conservation value of individual localities, the sites housing *E. ferrugineus* should receive the highest priority.

#### **Implications for management**

Surveys by means of pheromone-baited funnel traps would constitute a very useful tool for conservation purposes both in order to locate sites with high species richness as well as monitoring dispersals and populations of rare and threatened species. Use of pheromone baited traps makes it possible to perform large surveys with relative low effort, as the high efficiency and species specificity makes interpretation of the catches fast and easy to carry out in the field.

## Acknowledgements

Mattias Larsson, Supervisor, for great mentoring and giving me the opportunity to do this study

Per Milberg, Supervisor, great help with all the statistics always possible to reach when things pop up behind the statistical program, a special thanks for help in calculation the odds-ratios

Karl-Olof Bergman, Supervisor, great help with planning and when struggling with maps and getting people to help out in field when the hours of the day weren't enough

Niklas Jansson, Comments on thesis, provider of the invaluable data-set with saproxylic beetles

Lars Westerberg, for the great assistance with field GPS:s and GIS, took time of his vacation to help out

Erik Hedenström, Palle Breistein, Joakim Bång, for synthesis of pheromones

Joe Burman, Inis Winde och Henrik Nguyen, for pheromone bait and administrative issues

Carl-Johan Mossberg, Lantbruksfakta, for the great help with landowner data

Kristina Bergman, Johan Jensen, Najihah Musa and Per Saarinen for excellent field work

Anders Jörneskog, Municipality-ecologist, Linköping Municipality, as always helpful in field and when a couple of hundred plastic traps needs to be stored.

Stiftelsen Eklandskapet i Linköpings kommun, Marie-Claire Cronstedts Stiftelse, and Skogssällskapet who granted finance to this project

A special thanks to all landowners who gave their permission to set up traps and having us moving in and out on a almost daily basis, and in many cases took some time off to tell me about the history of their land

A large measure of gratitude to friends, relatives and especially my girlfriend Annie who have had to put up with a somewhat more absent-minded person than usual

## References

- Anonymous 1992, "Council directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora", European Environment Agency (EEA), 1992L0043-EN- 01.01.2007 -005.001-1, Report, last updated: 22.10.2010
- Anonymous 2011. July and August temperature and rain data, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, *SMHI*, <u>http://www.smhi.se/polopoly\_fs/1.17634!w14\_juli11.pdf</u>, <u>http://www.smhi.se/polopoly\_fs/1.17980!w14\_aug11.pdf</u>, Acquired 3<sup>rd</sup> of January 2012

- Atmar, W., Patterson, D. D., 1993 "The measure of order and disorder in the distribution of species in fragmented habitat", *Oceologica*, **96**, 373-382
- Atmar, W., Patterson B.D., 1995. "The nestedness temperature calculator: a visual basic program, including 294 presence-absence matrices" *Nestedness calculator Software*, *AICS Research, Inc., University Park, NM, and The Field Museum, Chicago*
- Begon, M., Townsend, C. R., Harper, J. L. 2006 "Ecology: from individuals to ecosystems", 4<sup>th</sup> ed., *Blackwell Publishing Ltd*, Oxford, ISBN: 978-1-4051-1117-1, Printed in Hong Kong
- Benedick, S., Hill, J. K., Mustaffa, N., Chey, V. K., Maryati, M., Searle, J. B., Schilthuizen, M., Hamer, K. C. 2006 "Impacts of rain forest fragmentation on butterflies in northern Borneo: species richness, turnover and the value of small fragments", *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43, 967-977
- Bengtsson, M., Jaastad, G., Knudsen, G., Kobro, S., Bäckman, A., Pettersson, E. & Witzgall,
  P. 2006, "Plant volatiles mediate attraction to host and non-host plant in apple fruit moth, Argyresthia conjugella", *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **118**, 77-85
- Bergman, K.-O., Jansson, N., Claesson, K., Palmer, M. W., Milberg, P. 2012, "How much and at what scale? Multiscale analyses as decision support for conservation of saproxylic oak beetles", *Forest Ecology and Management*, 265,133-141
- Bland, J. M. & Altman, D. G. 2000 "Statistical notes: The odds ratio", *British Medical Journal*, 320, 1468
- Bolger, D.T., Alberts, A.C., Soule, M.E. 1991,"Occurrence patterns of bird species in habitat fragments: sampling, extinction, and nested species subsets", *American Naturalist*, **137**, 155-166
- Byers, J. A. 2009, "Modeling distributions of flying insects: Effective attraction radius of pheromone in two and three dimensions", *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **256**, 81-89
- Chiari, S., 2011 "Ecology of the hermit beetle (*Osmoderma eremita*) in Mediterranean woodlands. " Doctoral thesis, Department of Environmental Biology, Roma Tre University, Rome, Italy.
- Chisholm, C., Lindo, Z., Gonzalez, A. 2011,"Metacommunity diversity depends on connectivity and patch arrangement in heterogeneous habitat networks", *Ecography*, 34, 415-424
- Davies, K.F., Margules, C.R., Lawrence, J.F. 2000, "Which trait of species predict population declines in experimental forest fragments?", *Ecology*, **81**, 1450-1461
- Dubois, G., Vignon, V. 2008, "First results of radio-tracking of Osmodera eremita (Coleoptera: Cetoniidae) in French chestnut orchards ", *Société nationale de protection de la nature et d'acclimatation de France, Paris, France*, 0249-7395

- Dubois, G. F., Le Gouar, P. J., Delettre, Y. R., Brustel, H., Vernon, P. 2010, "Sex-biased and body condition dependent dispersal capacity in the endangered saproxylic beetle Osmoderma eremita (Coleoptera: Cetoniidae) ", *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 14, 679-687
- Ehrlich, P.R. 1992, "Population biology of checkerspot butterflies and the preservation of global biodiversity", *Oikos*, **63**, 6-12
- Eliasson, P. 1999, "Rättat efter skogarnas aftagande -en miljöhistorisk undersökning av den svenska eken unde 1700-1800-talen", *Bebyggelsehistorisk Tidskrift*, **37**
- Eliasson, P., Nilsson, S. G. 2002, "'You should hate young oaks and young noblemen': the environmental history of oaks in eighteenth-and nineteenth-century Sweden", *Enviromental History*, **7**, 659-677
- Elkington, J. S., Schal, C., Ono, T., Cardé, R. T. 1987, "Pheromone puff trajectory and upwind flight of male gypsy moths in a forest", *Physiological Entomology*, **12**
- ESRI, ArcGis, 9.3.1, Gis Map programme, Redlands, California, U.S.A.
- Gärdenfors, U. 2010 "Rödlistade arter i Sverige2010", The 2010 red list of Swedish species. *ArtDatabanken, Uppsala*
- Hanski, I. 1998, "Metapopulation dynamics", Nature, 396, 41-49
- Hanski, I. Moilanen, A., Gyllenberg, M. 1996 "Minimum viable metapopulation size", *The American Naturalist*, **147**, 527-541
- Hardin, J. W. & Hilde, J. M. 2007, "Generalized linear models and extensions", 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., *Stata Press*, Lakeway Drive, Texas, ISBN: 1-59718-014-9, Printed in U.S.A.
- Holt, R. D. 1993, "Food webs in space: an island biogeographic perspective. In: G. Polis and K. Winemiller (eds.), *Food Webs: Contemporary Perspectives*. Chapman and Hall, New York, 313-323
- Holt, R. D. 2002 "Food webs in space: On the interplay of dynamic instability and spatial processes", *Ecological Research*, **17**, 261-273
- Holt, R. D., Lawton, J. H., Polis, G. A., Martinez, N. D. 1999 "Trophic rank and the speciesarea relationship", *Ecology*, **80**, 1495-1504
- Jansson, N. 2006 "Vedlevande skalbaggar, myror och klokrypare på gamla ädellövträd i Östergötland", *Länsstyrelsen Östergötland*, **2006:13**, Report.In swedish
- Jansson, N. 2009 "Habitat requirements and preservation of the beetle assemblages associated with hollow oaks" Doctoral thesis. Department of Physics, Chemistry and Biology, Division of Ecology, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

- Jansson, N., Bergman, K.-O., Jonsell, M., Milberg, P. 2009 "An indicator system for identification of sites of high conservation value for saproxylic oak (Quercus spp.) beetles in southern Sweden", *Journal of Insect Conservation*, **13**, 399-412
- Kuussaari, M., Bommarco, R., Heikkinen, R. K., Helm, A., Krauss, J., Lindborg, R.,
  Öckinger, E., Pärtel, M., Pino, J., Roda, F., Stefanescu, C., Teder, T., Zobel, M.,
  Steffan-Dewenter, I. 2009 "Extinction debt: a challenge for biodiversity conservation ", *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24, 564-571
- Lane, P. W. 2002 "Generalized linear models in soil science", *European Journal of Soil* Science, **53**, 241-251
- Larsson, M.C., Hedin, J., Svensson, G.P., Tolasch, T., Francke, W. 2003 "Characteristic odor of Osmoderma eremita identified as a male-released pheromone", Journal of Chemical Ecology, 29, 575-587
- Larsson, M.C., Svensson, G.P. 2009 "Pheromone monitoring of rare and threatened insects: Exploiting a pheromone-kairomone system to estimate prey and predator abundance", *Conservation Biology*, 23, 1516-1525
- Larsson, M.C., Svensson, G.P. 2011 "Monitoring spatiotemporal variation in abundance and dispersal by a pheromone-kairomone system in the threatened saproxylic beetles Osmoderma eremita and Elater ferrugineus", *Journal of Insect Conservation*, Article in press, 1-12
- Levi-Zada, A., Ben-Yehuda, S., Dunkelblum, E., Gindin, G., Fefer, D., Protasov, A., Kuznetsowa, T., Manulis-Sasson, S., Mendel, Z. 2011 "Identification and field bioassays of the sex pheromone of the yellow-legged clearwing Synanthedon vespiformis (Lepidoptera: Sesiidae)", *Chemoecology*, 21, 227-233
- Ljungberg, H., Andrén, B., Ehnström, B., Jansson, N., Jonsell, M., Lindelöw, Å., Lundberg,
  S., Malmqvist, A., Nilsson, S.G., Pettersson, R.B., Ramqvist, T., Wanntorp, H., Nilsson,
  S.G., Pettersson, R.B., Ramqvist, T., Wanntorp, H. & Wikars, L. 2010 "Skalbaggar–
  Beetles *Coleoptera*", Rödlistade arter I Sverige 2010, *Svenska artdatabanken, SLU*
- Margules, C. & Usher, M.B. 1981 "Criteria used in assessing wildlife conservation potential: A review", *Biological Conservation*, **21**, 79-109
- Morris, J. A. & Gardner, M. J. 1988 "Calculating confidence intervals for relative risks (odds ratios and standardised ratios and rate)", *British Medical Journal*, **296**, 1313-1314
- Myers, N., Mittermeler, R.A., Mittermeler, C.G., Da Fonseca, G.A.B. & Kent, J. 2000 "Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities", *Nature*, **403**, 853-858
- Nilsson, S.G. & Baranowski, R. 1994 "Indikatorer på jätteträdskontinuitet- svenska förekomster av knäppare som är beroende av grova, levande träd", *Entomologisk Tidskrift*, **115**, 81-97

- Nilsson, S.G., Arup, U., Baranowski, R., Ekman, S. 1995 "Tree-dependent lichens and beetles as indicators in conservation forests", *Conservation Biology*, **9**, 1208-1215
- Økland, B., Bakke, A., Hågvar, S., Kvamme, T. 1996 "What factors influence the diversity of saproxylic beetles? A multiscaled study from a spruce forest in southern Norway", *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **5**, 75-100
- Oliver, I. & Beattie, A.J. 1993 "A possible method for the rapid assessment of biodiversity", *Conservation Biology*, **7**, 562-568
- Palm, T. 1954 "Anteckningar om svenska skalbaggar. IX.", *Entomologisk Tidskrift*, **75**, 13-28 (In Swedish)
- Palm, T. 1959 "Die Holz- und Rindenkäfer der süd- und mittelschwedischen Laubbäume" Opuscula Entomologica Supplementum, XVI: 246
- Pimm, S. L., Raven, P. 2000 "Extinction by numbers", Nature, 403, 843-845
- Ranius, T. 2000 "Minimum viable metapopulation size of a beetle, *Osmoderma eremita*, living in tree hollows", *Animal Conservation*, **3**, 37-43
- Ranius, T. 2001 "Constancy and asynchrony of *Osmoderma eremita* populations in tree hollows", *Oecologia*, **126**, 208-215
- Ranius, T. 2002 "*Osmoderma eremita* as an indicator of species richness of beetles in tree hollows", *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **11**, 931-941
- Ranius, T., Hedin, J. 2001 "The dispersal rate of a beetle, *Osmoderma eremita*, living in tree hollows", *Ocelogica*, **126**, 363-370
- Ranius, T., Nilsson, S.G. 1997 "Habitat of Osmoderma eremita Scop. (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae), a beetle living in hollow trees", Journal of Insect Conservation, 1, 193-204
- Ranius, T., Johansson, V., Fahrig, L. 2011 "Predicting spatial occurrence of beetles ans pseudoscorpions in hollow oaks in southeastern Sweden", *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **20**, 2027-2040
- Ranius, T., Aguado, L.O., Antonsson, K., Audisio, P., Ballerio, A., Carpaneto, G.M., Chobot, K., Gjurašin, B., Hanssen, O., Huijbregts, H., Lakatos, F., Martin, O., Neculiseanu, Z., Nikitsky, N.B., Paill, W., Pirnat, A., Rizun, V., Ruic Nescu, A., Stegner, J., Süda, I., Szwa Ko, P.A., Tamutis, V., Telnov, D., Tsinkevich, V., Versteirt, V., Vignon, V., Vögeli, M. & Zach, P. 2005 "*Osmoderma eremita* (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae, Cetoniinae) in Europe", *Animal Biodiversity and Conservation*, 28, 1-44
- Rita, H. Komonen, A. 2008 "Odds ratio: an ecologically sound tool to compare proportions", *Annales Zoologi Fennici*, **45**, 66-72

- Rosenberg, D.M., Danks, H.V. & Lehmkuhl, D.M. 1986 "Importance of insects in environmental impact assessment", *Environmental Management*, **10**, 773-783
- Schneider, D. C. 1992 "Statistical evaluation of models in oceanography: Analysis of Schaefer's trophic dynamic equation, rather than a surrogate", *Limnology and Oceanography*, **37**, 1076-1080
- Schneider, D. C. 2009 "Quantitative ecology", 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., *Academic Press Elsevier*, London, ISBN: 978-0-12-627865-1, Printed in U.K.
- Schlyter, F. 1992 "Sampling range, attraction range, and effective attraction radius: Estimates of trap efficiency and communication distance in coleopteran pheromone and host attractant systems", *Journal of Applied Entomology*, **114**, 439-459
- Schultz, C.B. & Hammond, P.C. 2003 "Using population viability analysis to develop recovery criteria for endangered insects: case study of the Fender's blue butterfly", *Conservation Biology*, **17**, 1372-1385
- Simberloff, D. 1998 "Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones: is single-species management passe' in the landscape era? ", *Biological and Conservation*, **83**, 247–257
- Sparrow, H.R., Sisk, T.D., Ehrlich, P.R., Murphy, D.D. 1994 "Techniques and guidelines for monitoring neotropical butterflies", *Conservation Biology*, **8**, 800-809
- Svensson, G.P., Larsson, M.C. 2008 "Enantiomeric specificity in a pheromone-kairomone system of two threatened saproxylic beetles, *Osmoderma eremita* and *Elater ferrugineus*" *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, **34**, 189–197
- Svensson, G.P., Larsson, M.C., Hedin, J. 2004 "Attraction of the larval predator *Elater ferrugineus* to the sex pheromone of its prey, *Osmoderma eremita*, and its implication for conservation biology", *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, **30**, 353-363
- Svensson, G. P., Sahlin, U., Brage, B., Larsson, M. C. 2011a "Should I stay or should I go? Modelling dispersal strategies in saproxylic insects based on pheromone capture and radio telemetry: a case study on the threatened hermit beetle *Osmoderma eremita*", *Biodiversity Conservation*, 20, 2883-2902
- Svensson, G., Liedtke, C., Hedneström, E., Breistein, P., Bång, J., Larsson, M. 2011b
   "Chemical ecology and insect conservation: optimizing pheromone-based monitoring of the threatened saproxylic click beetle *Elater ferrugineus*" *Journal of Insect Conservation*, in press
- StatSoft, Inc. 2011. STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 10. www.statsoft.com, Tulsa, Oklahoma, U.S.A.
- Tolasch, T., Von Fragstein, M., Steidle, J.L.M. 2007 "Sex pheromone of *Elater ferrugineus* L. (Coleoptera: Elateridae)", *Journal of chemical ecology*, **33**, 2156-2166

- Venables, W. N. & Dichmont, C. M. 2004 "GLMs, GAMs and GLMMs: an overview of theory for applications in fisheries research", *Fisheries Research*, **70**, 319-337
- Whittingham, M. J., Stephens, P. A., Bradbury, R. B. & Freckleton, R. P. 2006 "Why do we still use stepwise modeling in ecology and behavior? ", *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 75, 1182-1189
- Yasuda, T., Oku, K., Higuchi, H., Suzuki, T., Kashin, J., Kichishima, T., Watanabe, T., Takeda, A., Yasuda, M., Tabuchi, K., Takahashi, A., Yamashita, M., Fukumoto, T. & Mochizuki, F. 2010, "A multi-species pheromone lure: A blend of synthetic sex pheromone components for two mirid species, *Stenotus rubrovittatus* (Matsumura) and Trigonotylus caelestialium (Kirkaldy) (Heteroptera: Miridae)", *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 45, 593-599
- Östrand, F., Anderbrant, O., Jönsson, P. 2000, "Behaviour of male pine sawflies, *Neodiprion sertifer*, released downwind from pheromone sources", *Entomologia experimentalis et Applicata*, **95**, 119-128
- Östrand, F., Anderbrant, O., Jönsson, P., Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P., 2001 " Capture rates of the European pine sawfly *Neodiprion sertifer*, in pheromone traps, with special regard to effects of wind speed", *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, **27**, 1561-1574
- Östrand, F., Anderbrant, O. 2003 "From where are insects recruited? A new model to interpret catches of attractive traps", *Agricultural and Forest Entomology*, **5**, 163-171